Neurorehabilitation of the Upper Limb Across the Lifespan

Managing Hypertonicity for Optimal Function

Jodie Copley and Kathy Kuipers



Neurorehabilitation of the Upper Limb Across the Lifespan

Managing Hypertonicity for Optimal Function

Dr. Jodie Copley

Senior Lecturer and Clinical Educator School of Health and Rehabilitation Sciences The University of Queensland, Australia



Dr. Kathy Kuipers

Optimise Rehab, Queensland, Australia Lecturer, School of Health and Rehabilitation Sciences The University of Queensland, Australia This edition first published 2014 © 2014 by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Registered office: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, The Atrium, Southern Gate, Chichester, West Sussex, PO19 8SQ, UK

Editorial offices: 9600 Garsington Road, Oxford, OX4 2DQ, UK

The Atrium, Southern Gate, Chichester, West Sussex, PO19 8SQ, UK 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030-5774, USA

For details of our global editorial offices, for customer services and for information about how to apply for permission to reuse the copyright material in this book please see our website at www.wiley.com/wiley-blackwell

The right of the author to be identified as the author of this work has been asserted in accordance with the UK Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, except as permitted by the UK Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988, without the prior permission of the publisher.

Designations used by companies to distinguish their products are often claimed as trademarks. All brand names and product names used in this book are trade names, service marks, trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective owners. The publisher is not associated with any product or vendor mentioned in this book. It is sold on the understanding that the publisher is not engaged in rendering professional services. If professional advice or other expert assistance is required, the services of a competent professional should be sought.

The contents of this work are intended to further general scientific research, understanding, and discussion only and are not intended and should not be relied upon as recommending or promoting a specific method, diagnosis, or treatment by health science practitioners for any particular patient. The publisher and the author make no representations or warranties with respect to the accuracy or completeness of the contents of this work and specifically disclaim all warranties, including without limitation any implied warranties of fitness for a particular purpose. In view of ongoing research, equipment modifications, changes in governmental regulations, and the constant flow of information relating to the use of medicines, equipment, and devices, the reader is urged to review and evaluate the information provided in the package insert or instructions for each medicine, equipment, or device for, among other things, any changes in the instructions or indication of usage and for added warnings and precautions. Readers should consult with a specialist where appropriate. The fact that an organization or Website is referred to in this work as a citation and/or a potential source of further information does not mean that the author or the publisher endorses the information the organization or Website may provide or recommendations it may make. Further, readers should be aware that Internet Websites listed in this work may have changed or disappeared between when this work was written and when it is read. No warranty may be created or extended by any promotional statements for this work. Neither the publisher nor the author shall be liable for any damages arising herefrom.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data Copley, Iodie, author.

Neurorehabilitation of the upper limb across the lifespan: managing hypertonicity for optimal function / Dr. Jodie Copley, Dr. Kathy Kuipers.

p.; cm.

Includes bibliographical references and index.

ISBN 978-0-470-67031-6 (pbk.)

I. Kuipers, Kathy, author, II. Title.

[DNLM: 1. Muscle Hypertonia - rehabilitation. 2. Upper Extremity - physiopathology.

3. Brain Injuries – complications. 4. Movement Disorders – therapy. 5. Orthopedic Fixation

Devices. 6. Patient-Centered Care. WE 805]

RC387.5

617.4′810443 – dc23

2013049512

A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library.

Wiley also publishes its books in a variety of electronic formats. Some content that appears in print may not be available in electronic books.

Set in 9/11pt MinionPro by Laserwords Private Limited, Chennai, India Printed and bound in Malaysia by Vivar Printing Sdn Bhd Neurorehabilitation of the Upper Limb Across the Lifespan

DCP18/04

Acknowledgements

When embarking on a project such as this it is hard to predict what might be around the corner. Often, the best laid plans are sent a little off course by the way life unfolds around us. Of course, the only response is to immerse ourselves in the challenges and delights as they come along and do our very best. During the writing of this book, an interesting array of challenges and delights has come our way – high school graduations, 21st birthdays, relocations, job transformations, illnesses that require real attention and bravery, the loss of friends and family. We are proud to say that all this life did not merely happen around us, we remained immersed in it while we got the job done. We were able to keep it real, and we have many people to thank for helping us do that.

To a large extent this project has been a labour of love. Despite the challenges, it had to happen. We have had the great fortune of being able to assist clinicians and their clients from all over the world. The ongoing requests for guidance in this area of practice, the increased confidence and accountability of clinicians we have trained, and the goal achievement of their clients and ours, have made it clear that contributing to knowledge translation and clinical reasoning through this book is a worthwhile pursuit. We would like to extend our sincere gratitude to the therapists who have asked the questions, sought out the support, struggled with the complexities and ventured out of their comfort zones for their clients. You have taught us much about what you need and how it needs to be delivered so you can use it in the real world. We also offer our profound appreciation to the children and adults with brain injuries with whom we have worked for the past 20 years, their families and caregivers. They have taught us even more.

Certain people have accompanied us closely throughout this project, witnessed the fatigue,

frustrations and breakthroughs, and continued to offer kind words, encouragement and belief in us. Sanity would not have been maintained without the support of our dear friends and colleagues, in particular Teresa Quinlan, Merrill Turpin, Pam Meredith, Jill Ashburner, Geoff Teakle, Judy Jones, Mary Kayssar, Lois Eastgate, and the teams at UQ Children's Life Skills Clinic and UQ Hypertonicity Clinic. Completion would not have been achieved without the patient guidance of the Wiley team: Rupert Cousins, Katrina Hulme-Cross, Sara Crowley-Vigneau, Hayley Wood, James Schultz, Madeleine Hurd, Chrisma Ng and Deepa Kumar. We would also like to thank Kelly Skorka, Grace Branjerdporn and especially Rhiannon Caynes for their referencing assistance. Once again, we are indebted to Robin Lamont for his help with the illustrations. Nic managed to fit in creating the splinting patterns for us while juggling his final year of schooling; thanks Spud, you the man!

In our previous publication, we thanked Megan Gandfors for setting us on the path of 'thinking about how we think' while working with people who have a brain injury. Megan is a friend we have lost; we remain indebted to her for bringing us together as a partnership and helping us see what was possible in her unique, energetic way.

Finally, we could not have contemplated this challenge, or seen its delights, without the special ones who continued to immerse us in life while it all happened. For Jodie, Mark and Anita Covington offered constant care and hope. Our partners and children have provided unconditional love and forgiveness, even as the task drew out inordinately. "Thank you" is inadequate to express our gratitude and appreciation to Brendon, Rhiannon and Ethan (Jodie), Pim and Nic (Kathy). You make everything worthwhile.

Contents

Acknowledgements, ix

- 1. Seeing the Bigger Picture: Using Clients' Experiences to Shape Clinical Practice, 1
 - 1.1. Appreciating the client's experiences, 1
 - 1.2. Providing or assisting access to long-term services, 1
 - 1.3. Initiating and supporting transitions from one service to the next, 3
 - 1.4. Listening carefully and providing relevant information, 4
 - 1.5. Collaborating on achievable goals, 5
 - 1.6. Actively supporting and involving caregivers, 6
 - This book: Promoting collaborative, client-centred intervention, 7 References, 7
- 2. What Happens to the Upper Limb After Brain Injury?, 9
 - 2.1. Motor control and normal movement, 9
 - 2.2. Upper limb movement, 17
 - 2.3. Brain injury and movement dysfunction, 19
 - 2.4. Upper motor neuron syndrome, 20
 - 2.5. The clinical picture: Interaction of positive and negative features, 37
 - 2.6. Summary, 45 References, 45
- 3. The Hypertonicity Intervention Planning Model for Upper Limb Neurorehabilitation, 54
 - 3.1. Decision-making in clinical practice, 54
 - 3.2. Evidence-based practice: What it is and what it isn't, 56
 - 3.3. Clinical reasoning: A process of integration and differentiation, 61
 - 3.4. The hypertonicity intervention planning model for upper limb neurorehabilitation, 65
 - 3.5. Summary, 73 References, 73
- 4. Making Sense of the Clinical Picture, 80
 - 4.1. The ICF as an assessment framework, 80
 - 4.2. Gathering information, 81
 - 4.3. Upper limb assessment, 87
 - 4.4. Goal formulation, 107
 - 4.5. Summary, 110 References, 111
 - 4.A. Information Gathering Using a Concept Map Structure, 116
 - 4.B. Upper Limb Performance Analysis (ULPA) Part 2: Comparative Analysis of Performance Motor (CAP-M), 117
 - 4.C. Upper Limb Hypertonicity Assessment Form, 119
- 5. Case Studies, 128
 - 5.1. Wendy, 128
 - 5.2. Harry, 134
 - 5.3. Tony, 138
 - 5.4. Summary, 144

- 6. Movement and Strength Training, 145
 - 6.1. Changes in rehabilitation theory and practice, 145
 - 6.2. Common rehabilitation approaches: Assumptions, principles and strategies, 146
 - 6.3. A selection of contemporary techniques: Indications and considerations, 149
 - 6.4. Summary, 176 References, 177

7. Splinting, 186

- 7.1. Splinting: Proposed mechanisms of effect, 186
- 7.2. Splinting research: A narrative review, 190
- 7.3. Hypertonicity intervention planning model (HIPM): Indications for splinting, 202
- 7.4. Splint prescription, 202
- 7.5. Common splint designs, 213
- 7.6. Adapting splint designs, 214
- 7.7. Commercially-produced Splints, 214
- 7.8. Wearing schedules, 216
- 7.9. Fabrication principles, 218
- 7.10. Summary, 223 References, 223
- 7.A. Common Splint Designs, Patterns and Fabrication Instructions, 230
- 7.B. Splint Care and Precautions, 274
- 7.C. Example of a Photographic Splint Programme, 275

8. Casting, 278

- 8.1. Casting classification, 278
- 8.2. Casting research: A narrative review, 282
- 8.3. Indications for casting, 284
- 8.4. Contraindications for casting, 284
- 8.5. Casting considerations, 290
- 8.6. Casting process, 294
- 8.7. Post-casting follow-up programme, 298
- 8.8. Summary, 301 References, 301
- 8.A. Casting Procedures, 304
- 8.B. Casting for Arms and Hands: Information Sheet, 316
- 8.C. Casting Agreement, 317
- 8.D. Casting Documentation Form Page 1, 318
- 8.D. Casting Documentation Form Page 1, 319
- 8.E. Precautions and Cast Care During Casting Series, 320

9. Botulinum Neurotoxin, 321

- 9.1. Clostridium botulinum, 321
- 9.2. Mechanism of effect, 323
- 9.3. Botulinum neurotoxin research: A narrative review, 326
- 9.4. Guidelines for practice, 329
- 9.5. Summary, 335 References, 335

10. Surgery, 339

- 10.1. Classification of surgical procedures, 339
- 10.2. Surgery: A narrative review, 340
- 10.3. Indications for surgical intervention, 347
- 10.4. Surgical consultation: Information sharing, 350

- 10.5. Post-surgery follow-up, 351
- 10.6. Summary, 352 References, 352
- 11. Case Studies Revisited, 355
 - 11.1. Wendy intervention process and outcomes, 355
 - 11.2. Harry intervention process and outcomes, 360
 - 11.3. Tony intervention process and outcomes, 362
 - 11.4. Summary, 366

Index, 369

1 Seeing the Bigger Picture: Using Clients' Experiences to Shape Clinical Practice

Chapter objectives

- Discuss the impact of brain, injury on the lives of individuals and their families, highlighting the changes that clients experience over time and the subsequent need for long-term services and supports, particularly during times of transition between services.
- Outline requirements for effective collaboration with clients and caregivers, including principles and practices the clinician can adopt to ensure client-centred service provision that promotes clients' and caregivers' long-term quality of life.

Abbreviations

ABI Acquired brain injury

CP Cerebral palsy

TBI Traumatic brain injury

1.1 Appreciating the client's experiences

To ensure that neurorehabilitation, or any other aspect of service provision, is effectively targeted and contributes to positive outcomes for clients in their life contexts, the clinician must step back and appreciate the wider picture of what occurs in the lives of individuals and their families after brain injury. Health professionals may, at times, feel that they have limited control over the organisational context and practical constraints (e.g. funding mechanisms, staffing levels, resource availability) within which they are working. Indeed, service evaluation, long-term research and government lobbying is often required to drive positive change in service provision models, availability and quality. Nonetheless, the individual clinician usually has some control over how he or she practices - what is emphasised and prioritised in encounters with the client and family, which clinical skills are developed and refined, who the client will be referred to after this clinical service has ended, and

the communication that will occur with the client and family, as well as with subsequent service providers.

Therapy services are typically categorised according to the amount of time post-injury, the service purpose (acute care, rehabilitation, long-term community-based services, residential care) or a specific client age range (children and youth, adults, older people). Therefore, each clinician will be involved for only part of the client's story. Smoothing the pathway from one phase of service provision to the next requires a broader appreciation of the client's rehabilitation journey outside the clinician's own immediate service context.

To gain this broader perspective, the clinician can consider what has been learned from research into the experiences of clients and caregivers post-injury and their perceived long-term service needs. Although a variety of different factors come into play when working with clients with different diagnoses, research into chronic disability due to brain injury suggests some common themes across stroke, traumatic brain injury (TBI) and cerebral palsy (CP). Awareness of these 'big picture' themes can help clinicians develop practice habits and skills that support the client's quality of life and promote positive long-term outcomes. Research findings suggest that the following themes are important in guiding service provision.

1.2 Providing or assisting access to long-term services

1.2.1 What are the needs?

It is clear that quality acute care supports better outcomes for people with acquired brain injury (ABI). This is illustrated by the variation among stroke outcomes in different European countries depending on the resources devoted to the acute phase of treatment [1]. It has further been suggested that, in addition to advances in brain stimulation techniques and pharmacological interventions, early provision of intense interdisciplinary neurorehabilitation contributes

Neurorehabilitation of the Upper Limb Across the Lifespan: Managing Hypertonicity for Optimal Function, First Edition. Jodie Copley and Kathy Kuipers.

^{© 2014} John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. Published 2014 by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

substantially to better stroke outcomes [2]. In relation to children with CP, substantial progress has been made over the past two decades in developing coordinated interdisciplinary rehabilitation services [3] and research into related interventions has focused on provision of services early in life and throughout childhood [4].

Despite a concentration of resources within the acute and early rehabilitation phases of intervention, a growing body of research across different diagnostic groups indicates that people with brain injury continue to have therapy needs on a long-term basis, often for the duration of their lifetimes [5]. In a study of 60 people with TBI who were interviewed one year after their injuries, 38% identified significant restrictions to their lifestyle and work capacity and 15% were unable to care for themselves [6]. In a UK study of 1251 people ranging from one to five years post-stroke, approximately half of the participants reported a reduction in work activities and two thirds participated in fewer leisure pursuits than before their strokes [7]. In a comparison of the quality of life between people with recent (1-5 years) and extended (more than 5 years) brain injuries, the extended group reported more difficulties with instrumental activities of daily living, such as household tasks and community activities, indicating the need for continuous community living skills training [8].

As people with CP live longer, there are indications that atypical tone increases with age and secondary conditions, such as contractures and degenerative arthritis, are having lifetime effects [9]. In a review of long-term outcomes for adults with CP, Kembhavi et al. [4] identified that ambulation skills commonly deteriorated in adulthood and that joint deformities occurred regardless of mobility status or severity of the condition. Co-morbid diagnoses, such as stroke, multiple sclerosis and Parkinson disease, are not uncommon in adults with CP [9]. The recognition of these long-term issues within this client group has led to increased research into the impact of pain and fatigue on their participation in daily life activities [4].

In addition to these ongoing physical and rehabilitation needs, it is clear that emotional and psychosocial issues continue to be evident over time across all diagnostic groups. In a large UK study, one third of participants who had had a stroke between one and five years previously reported emotional problems [7]. Similarly, in a sample of French participants, two thirds of whom were more than one year post-stroke, depression was more common than in matched controls, and levels of both depression and difficulties

in social interaction increased over time post-stroke [10]. Comparable difficulties were found in a study of people with TBI [11]. For people with stroke, emotional and social issues were more marked for those who had hemiplegia or were unemployed [10]. As such needs have become more recognised, it has become evident that promoting quality of life among people with ABI requires ongoing support of emotional and social role functioning, daily life activities and participation in enjoyable activities [12]. A similar breadth of needs can be identified for people with CP. Studies suggest that adults with CP commonly live isolated lives [13] and that those aged over 40 have been assessed to be lonelier than other adults [14]. Mental health issues, such as depression, are not uncommon in this population [9]. At a consultative clinic for adults with CP in New South Wales, Australia, while the main areas of need are neurological and musculoskeletal, depression and anxiety are also being identified [3].

Collectively, this research suggests that the service needs of people with brain injury change and increase over time and that services need to be responsive to these changes [5,15]. It is further suggested that the degree to which these service and support needs are met will significantly impact clients' long term quality of life, psychological adjustment and participation in meaningful life roles [16-18]. The importance of ongoing service provision for adults with TBI is highlighted by the finding from one study that, for some people, the hope of continuous improvement over time played a critical role in developing a "new self" [6] (p.414). For example, one participant commented that "I'll keep improving, with hard work of course, for the next ... 10 years, or 20 years, no matter what ... " (p.413).

1.2.2 Are the needs being met?

Despite increasing acknowledgement of long-term service needs, current service availability and access is falling short of the expectations of clients and families. Half of the participants in a UK study of people post-stroke reported unmet needs in relation to clinical services and information provision [7], while an Australian survey of carers of adults with TBI found that only 33% reported access to therapy services following hospital discharge [5]. In another study focusing on the transition of people with ABI from hospital to home, the services that were provided (even during inpatient rehabilitation) were considered insufficient in terms of timing, intensity and duration [15]. Adults with chronic lifelong disabilities have reported

difficulty accessing services in the adult health system equivalent to those available when they were children [19]; similarly, young people with CP experience a marked reduction in rehabilitation services once they finish school [3]. People living in rural areas and those with non-compensable injuries also face restrictions to service access in some countries [15].

While limited resources are likely to be partly to blame for unmet service needs, some studies indicate that the attitudes of service providers were unhelpful and they reduced access to further services. In a Swedish study, people with TBI and their relatives reported feeling avoided and misjudged by health service personnel [20]. They relayed their experiences of professionals evading their questions about further service provision and making decisions about their care without consulting them or allowing their families to have meaningful input. Dennis [21] provides a vivid account of similar experiences after her mother had a stroke and service providers decided that rehabilitation was not warranted due to the severity of the stroke's effects. Dennis perceived that once this decision is made by health professionals, care and therapy ceases, causing further negative impact on the quality of life of people with more severe disabilities. Adults with CP have also reported that, while their experience of dealing with health professionals was generally positive, barriers to accessing health care included lack of interest and time provided to them by some health professionals [13] and a lack of specialist knowledge and professional training [4,22].

It may be difficult for individual clinicians to effect significant organisation- or health care system-wide changes to service access. However, the research outcomes described here can be used constructively to develop one's own practice style and principles,

focusing in particular on developing a client-centred approach to service provision and a personal attitude of compassion.

1.3 Initiating and supporting transitions from one service to the next

1.3.1 How is transition experienced?

The process of transitioning from one service context or stage to another is another theme identified as important by clients and caregivers. Research into the transition from hospital to home or from inpatient to outpatient rehabilitation services suggests that this process often does not occur smoothly. For example, in an Australian study, a quarter of carers of people with TBI reported that they received inadequate information about services available after discharge. Few carers were accessing formal financial, travel or accommodation supports and only one third of clients were reportedly accessing ongoing therapy [5]. In a further study of individuals returning home after an ABI, participants reported that organising post-discharge services was a difficult process, mired in bureaucracy and inflexible or complex eligibility criteria [15]. In the latter study, case management services were not in place before or immediately after discharge, and clients experienced delays in commencing community-based services after returning home. As a result of this lack of coordination and planning, levels of caregiver satisfaction tend to drop substantially between inpatient and outpatient services [5,23]. It has been suggested that reduced satisfaction at this point in time might also be due to a slowing of the spontaneous recovery experienced by the person with brain injury [5]. However, the anxiety that this phase creates is only likely to be exacerbated by a simultaneous reduction in services that could play

Messages for the Clinician

- · Assume that clients are likely to have ongoing service needs at various points in their lifetime and that even after neurological rehabilitation is complete, consideration should be given to issues of quality of life.
- · Collaborate with clients and their caregivers about future service needs and assist them to source possible services options and form links with these services.
- · Monitor the long-term needs of clients and provide targeted rehabilitation when possible to address defined needs.
- Initiate working closely with other professionals (such as social workers and psychologists) to ensure that social and emotional needs are addressed at all ages and life stages.
- · Ensure that, during rehabilitation and beyond, therapy promotes participation in daily life activities and valued life roles to assist adaptation to changes in ability over time.
- · Seek out specialist training to develop relevant skills for ongoing management of chronic rehabilitation needs.

a role in assisting clients to come to terms with their current status and future potential.

For young people with CP transitioning into adulthood, lack of allied health services and orthopaedic care are identified as challenges [19]. A review of transition services in Victoria, Australia, found that families were often inadequately prepared for the transition to adult health services. Variation occurred in terms of the age at which transition was first raised and the information provided about new services. Young people and their families reported feeling apprehensive about moving from the safe, nurturing environment of paediatric services with which they had had a long-term relationship, to adult services which were perceived to be less friendly and helpful. There was little lead up to the transition, few formal processes in place and no consistent staff member to manage and coordinate the move. Families reported feeling lost in this new system and, in addition, sometimes encountered long waiting lists for services and a shortage of health professionals with relevant expertise [22].

1.3.2 What is required to smooth the way?

Recommendations from research and service evaluation across different diagnostic groups carry similar themes. Caregivers of people with TBI reported that the anxiety they felt on discharge from hospital could have been relieved through the provision of improved transition planning and monitoring of post-discharge service access [5]. Similarly, people with ABI and their caregivers felt that case management needs to be instigated well before discharge to organise formal support services [15]. The process of transition of young people with CP from paediatric to adult services can be facilitated by an identified coordinator leading the development of specific processes, such as a documented transition plan that indicates the target age for transfer, the skills that may be required by the young person and family to effectively engage with adult services, and an agreed programme to target these skills [22]. Clear information about what to expect from the new service is recommended across all client groups [5,24].

Addressing the client's and caregivers' emotional support needs is another area of focus for transition. Close collaboration with clients with an acquired injury and their families is encouraged to uphold inclusiveness and dignity, and to promote a sense of control over the situation rather than exacerbating anxiety and despair at this time of change [15,21]. For young people with CP, it has been advised that greater emphasis be placed on understanding and addressing

the client's and family's emotional needs as they leave paediatric services and enter the adult sector [22]. A Canadian transition programme aims to acknowledge the difficulties parents face as their child with a disability enters adulthood and advocates a shared management approach to transition, using skill building programmes to gradually shift responsibility from the parent to the child/adult [24].

The relationship and interaction between services at transition points is a further consideration, with research indicating that planned dialogue and collaboration between services is critical for a positive client experience [3,15,19]. A review of the transition experience of young people with CP in Australia recommended that the paediatric service initiate contact with the adult service to assist in establishing an early relationship with a key coordinating person. It was further advised that the adult service make contact with the client prior to the first appointment, if necessary arranging a one-to-one meeting with the designated cooordinator to provide information and allay anxieties prior to meeting the new interdisciplinary health service team. To support ongoing quality of service provision after transition, it was proposed that a professional development programme be developed that included formal and regular knowledge-sharing opportunities between previous and current service providers [22]. These specific recommendations for the process of interaction and mutual support between the pre- and post-transition services are equally relevant to hospital and community organisations servicing adults with acquired injuries.

1.4 Listening carefully and providing relevant information

Client and caregiver needs for clear information from professionals at all stages of service delivery is a recurring theme across a range of studies [5,15,22]. A US-based study found that outcomes for people with TBI and their carers were adversely affected by a lack of education throughout their healthcare experience [25]. Lack of information across the continuum of care has been identified as a prime reason for dissatisfaction with services [5]. A critical appraisal of the literature investigating the information needs of carers of relatives with an ABI described several requirements. In addition to general information about the injury, carers reported the need for health professionals to answer questions honestly while retaining hope for improvement [26]. Health professionals in a Canadian study defended the provision of vague information on the basis that

long-term outcomes were often uncertain and that their aim was to avoid either upsetting the family or giving them "false hopes" [23,p.589]. However, feedback from clients and caregivers indicates that insufficient or conflicting information may be more detrimental to their understanding and acceptance of the consequences of brain injury [21].

Research further suggests that the importance of the interaction between the client and clinician extends beyond information giving. When transitioning from hospital to community-based services, development of a good relationship with therapists improved clients' and caregivers' perceptions of their community rehabilitation [15]. Young people with CP have often developed close relationships with their paediatric service providers and their confidence when moving to adult services was reportedly dependent upon the strength of their relationship with their new service coordinator [22].

The need to develop trusting relationships with health professionals is not surprising when one considers the emotional journey that accompanies the experience of brain injury. As previously discussed, anxiety, depression and loneliness are frequently described issues among people with CP and stroke [7,9]. It is expected that grief will occur after a brain injury and that the grief process is experienced in a highly individualised way [6]. An understanding of how clients are progressing through this process is central to building a therapeutic connection.

When interviewed one year after their injuries, people with TBI reported feeling regret and mourning for their loss of potential and previous life roles. They identified feeling alone and dehumanised during the recovery process, and commented that insensitive communication and lack of empathy from health professionals had the effect of diminishing their sense of hope. In particular, they felt rejected by professionals who did not seem to believe their subjective reports of the difficulties that they were experiencing, and they needed their issues to be confirmed or given legitimacy by these professionals [6]. This need appears to be long-term in nature, with another study finding that even eight years after injury, lack of acknowledgement of their suffering was a major determinant of reduced life satisfaction among people with TBI [27].

Chamberlain [6] asserts that, to promote recovery, health professionals need to engage the whole person rather than focusing on symptoms and deficits. Clients use personal narratives of their experience to assist their recovery and restore their self-hood. People with more severe disabilities may have greater difficulty conveying their narratives and may tend to rely on caregivers to fulfill this role. Given their evident importance in the recovery process, actively listening to clients' stories deserves considerable attention from clinicians.

Messages for the Clinician

- · Provide honest, easy to interpret information, in both verbal and written formats at all stages of the health care continuum. If outcomes are uncertain, convey this by providing broader information on the range of likely outcomes. Ensure that this information is provided in a sensitive way and offer ongoing support and the opportunity for clarification.
- · Make an effort to actively listen to clients' narratives of their experience. When relevant, listen to caregivers' translations of these experiences.
- · Fully acknowledge clients' and caregivers' concerns and take them seriously. If it is unclear why they may be experiencing certain difficulties or symptoms, assume the role of collaborator and assist them to investigate the stated concerns.

Collaborating on achievable goals

Goal setting has long been considered a routine part of the neurorehabilitation process, involving the therapist and client formulating a statement about the desired outcome of intervention [28]. In settings with a team of service providers, such as stroke units, interdisciplinary goal setting is seen as important [2]. Clients with brain injury and their caregivers have reported that the process of setting goals increases their interest in rehabilitation and influences their perceptions of intervention success [15].

However, identifying goals is not always straightforward. In a study examining the transition from hospital to community rehabilitation services for people with ABI, many participants reported general goals such as "getting my life back to the way it used to be" (p.826) and appeared to be unaware of the more specific rehabilitation goals that they were working towards. These participants were confused about the process of goal setting, with many stating that their therapists had set the goals and that they believed this to be the therapist's role [15].

The experience of clients and families having difficulty specifying goals is not a new one to most clinicians, given that clients are often unsure what to expect of intervention and therefore what aims may be realistic. In addition, clients with acquired injuries may continue to be wedded to the idea of 'how things used to be' for some time after their injuries. A study of people who were more than five years post-injury found that their quality of life had improved over time and that they were better adjusted to their new lives than were more recently injured people [8]. It is possible that, at this later stage, clients may find it easier to contemplate more specific, realistic goals. In any case, it is likely that the clinician will need to provide information about the possible outcomes of intervention and the limits on what might be achieved to assist clients to set well-targeted goals at any stage of the rehabilitation process.

Messages for the Clinician

- Collaborate with clients to formulate and document specific, achievable goals in language that is understandable to both client and caregivers.
- Assess the client before setting goals and use assessment information to inform realistic goal setting. Explain to the client and caregivers what might be possible given the current situation and client abilities, which outcomes are probable and which outcomes are unlikely (see Chapter 4).
- Refer back to the documented goals frequently throughout the intervention process. Review goal achievement after each stage of intervention and either set new goals or adjust current goals to target a more realistic outcome.

1.6 Actively supporting and involving caregivers

A growing body of research is being directed towards the caregivers of people with brain injuries [5,29–31]. This has occurred in recognition of the critical role played by caregivers in the client's recovery and long-term outcomes. Research suggests that people with acquired brain injuries consider their informal networks to be their most valued source of support and that this support is typically concentrated with one or two important people in their lives [15]. The health, stress and level of burden on primary carers are directly associated with the recovery of adults with TBI [32]. This is not surprising given that the person's social and community integration

or re-integration is often dependent on caregiver support [2]. This support is also influential for adults with CP. For example, although general exercise has been shown to improve functional status, frequency of exercise participation was found to be dependent on caregivers' attitudes [33].

Carers also report a range of unmet needs that result in feelings of isolation and of being misunderstood [5,30]. In addition to difficulties accessing ongoing services, the need for support during the transition between services, and wanting to receive clear information (discussed in Sections 1.2, 1.3 and 1.4), caregivers report a lack of adequate training from health professionals. For example, a third of carers of people with TBI reported that they had not received relevant training from hospital staff before taking on their caring responsibilities [5]. A lack of social supports for carers over time has also been found to have significant consequences; carers without social support whose relatives lived with cognitive deficits and lack of insight reported experiencing increasing stress as time progressed post injury. However, these factors did not cause stress among carers who had social supports in place [29].

Caring for caregivers would therefore seem to be a worthwhile focus for health professionals in order to

Messages for the Clinician

- Pay attention to caregivers. Notice their apparent levels of stress and anxiety. Ask them about how they are managing and the types of formal and informal supports they have in place for themselves. Where possible, provide information about support services they can access.
- Regularly take time to explain what you are doing with the client and why. Seek the caregiver's feedback. Routinely invite them to ask questions. Teach them techniques they can use in the client's daily lives. Allow them to practise these techniques in front of you and, if required, provide encouragement, extra support and information to promote mastery.
- Promote a culture of teamwork between the health professionals in your service and the clients and caregivers who access it. Initiate regular evaluation of service outcomes that includes seeking caregiver perceptions regarding satisfaction with the service. Let caregivers know how you have used this information to adapt service provision.

promote positive long-term outcomes for their clients. The most direct solution to unmet caregiver needs is for services to provide or assist caregivers to source ongoing emotional, psychological and financial support [5]. However, even if organisational resources make it difficult to provide this type of assistance, there are simpler steps that individual clinicians can take to reduce carer burden. Satisfaction of carers with service provision has been found to depend partly on their knowledge of, and involvement in, the rehabilitation process [5]. In addition, research indicates that caregivers' perceptions of support may be as beneficial to their wellbeing as the actual support provided [29]. This suggests that making efforts to fully involve caregivers in intervention, paying attention to their current and changing demands, and simply conveying a genuine caring attitude will go some way towards lightening the caregiver load.

This book: Promoting collaborative, 1.7 client-centred intervention

So how does a book focused on the upper limb contribute to the wider experience of clients and caregivers after brain injury? It is hoped that the information provided in subsequent chapters will:

- · Clarify causes of observed characteristics and movement patterns and their consequences for current and future function (Chapter 2), which will in turn assist the clinician to collaborate with the client on setting achievable goals (Chapter 4).
- · Promote confidence in translating research into practice in a way that fully appreciates the realities of the client's whole situation and day to day life (Chapters 3, 6-10).
- · Build clinicians' confidence regarding clinical reasoning and decision-making that considers the client's context and the aspects of life that have meaning for him or her (Chapters 3, 4, 5 and 11).
- · Provide a framework for client- and family-centred assessment, goal setting and intervention in an area of practice where clients and families often need support to become empowered members of the team (Chapter 3).
- · Provide a common language among health professionals for understanding and communicating with each other and the client about upper limb function and how it might impact on the person's wider experiences of life after brain injury.

Above all, it is our hope that clinicians will be inspired to join with clients and their family/caregivers in problem-solving the best way to optimise upper limb use and comfort in a way that positively contributes to their lives

References

- 1. Markus, H. (2007) Improving the outcome of stroke. British Medical Journal, 335, 359-360.
- 2. Albert, S.J. and Kesselring, J. (2012) Neurorehabilitation of stroke. Journal of Neurology, 259, 817-832.
- 3. Field, B., Scheinberg, A. and Cruickshank, A. (2010). Health care services for adults with cerebral palsy. Australian Family Physician, 39(3), 165-167.
- 4. Kembhavi, G., Darrah, J., Payne, K. and Plesuk, D. (2011) Adults with a diagnosis of cerebral palsy: a mapping review of long-term outcomes. Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology, 53, 610-614.
- 5. O'Callaghan, A.M., McCallister, L. and Wilson, L. (2011) Experiences of care: perspectives of carers of adults with traumatic brain injury. International Journal of Speech-Language Pathology, 13(3), 218-226.
- 6. Chamberlain, D.J. (2006) The experience of surviving traumatic brain injury. Issues and Innovations in Nursing Practice, 407-417.
- 7. McKevitt, C., Fudge, N., Redfern, J. et al. (2011) Self reported long term needs after stroke. Stroke, 42, 1398 - 1403.
- 8. Man, D.W.K., Yip, P.F.W., Ko, T.H.L. et al. (2010) Quality of life of individuals with acquired brain injuries. Applied Research in Quality of Life, 5, 27-34.
- 9. Murphy, K.P. (2010) The adult with cerebral palsy. Orthopedic Clinics of North America, 41, 595-605.
- 10. Martin, C., Dellatolas, G., Viguier, D., (2002). Subjective experience after stroke. Applied Neuropsychology, 9(3), 148-58.
- 11. Martin, C., Viguier, D., Deloche, G. et al. (2001). Subjective experience after traumatic brain injury. Brain injury, 15(11), 947-959.
- 12. Kaminski, J. (2009) The effect of the level of impaired self awareness (anosognosia) on quality of life in individuals with post traumatic brain injury. Resource document. http://www.visionsofadonai.com/bc/wwwriters /anosognosia.html. Accessed 21/09/12.
- 13. Jonsson, G., Ekholm, J. and Schult, M.L. (2008) The international classification of functioning, disability and health environmental factors as facilitators or barriers used in describing personal and social networks: a pilot study of adults with cerebral palsy. International Journal of Rehabilitation Research, 31, 119-129.
- 14. Balandin, S., Berg, N. and Waller, A. (2006) Assessing the loneliness of older people with cerebral palsy. Disability and Rehabilitation, 28, 469-479.
- 15. Turner, B.J., Fleming, J., Ownsworth, T. and Cornwell, P. (2011) Perceived service and support needs during transition from hospital to home following acquired brain injury. Disability and Rehabilitation, 33(10), 818-829.
- 16. Corrigan, J., Whiteneck, G. and Mellick, D. (2004) Perceived needs following traumatic brain injury. Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation, 19, 205-216.

- 8
- 17. Heinemann, A., Sokol, K. and Bode, R. (2002) Measuring unmet needs and services among persons with traumatic brain injury. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 83, 1052–1059.
- 18. Pickelsimer, E., Selassie, A., Sample, P. *et al.* (2007) Unmet service needs of persons with traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 22, 1–13.
- Steinbeck, K., Brodie, L. and Towns, S. (2008) Transition in chronic illness: Who is going where? *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, 44, 478–482.
- Jumisko, E., Lexell, J. and Soderberg, S. (2007) The experiences of treatment from other people as narrated by people with moderate or severe traumatic brain injury and their close relatives. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 29, 1535–1543.
- 21. Dennis, M. (2009) The patient journey: where has all the care gone? *The Journal of Adult Protection*, 11(2), 32–39.
- Ipsos-Eureka Social Research Institute. (2008) Review of transition of young adult clinics. www.health.vic.gov.au /subacute/clinic – final-report.pdf. Accessed 23/09/12.
- LeFebvre, H., Pelchat, D., Swaine, B. et al. (2005) The experiences of individuals with a traumatic brain injury, families, physicians and health professionals regarding care provided throughout the continuum. Brain Injury, 19, 585–597.
- 24. Gall, C., Kingsnorth, S. and Healy, H. (2006) Growing up ready: A shared management approach. *Physical and Occupational Therapy in Pediatrics*, 26, 47–61.
- Rotondi, A. J., Sinkule, J., Balzer, K. et al. (2007) A qualitative needs assessment of persons who have experienced traumatic brain injury and their primary family caregivers. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 22, 14–25.

- 26. Sinnakaruppan, I. and Williams, D. M. (2001) Family carers and the adult head-injured: A critical review of carers' needs. *Brain Injury*, *15*, 653–672.
- 27. Steadman-Pare D., Colantonio A., Ratcliff G. *et al.* (2001) Factors associated with perceived quality of life many years after traumatic brain injury. *The Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 16, 330–342.
- Gitlow, L. and Depoy, E. (2013) Evidence-based practice for occupational therapy. in *Pedretti's Occupational Therapy: Practice Skills for Physical Dysfunction*, 7th edn (eds H.M. Pendleton and W. Schultz-Krohn, Elsevier, St. Louis.
- Ergh, T.C., Rapport, L.J., Coleman, R.D. et al. (2002). Predictors of caregiving and family functioning following traumatic brain injury: Social support moderates caregiver distress. *Journal of Head Trauma Rehabilitation*, 17, 155–174.
- Kreutzer, J.S., Gervasio, A.H. and Camplair, P.S. (1994)
 Primary caregivers' psychological status and family functioning after traumatic brain injury. *Brain Injury*, 8, 197–210.
- 31. Nabors, N., Seacat, J. and Rosenthal, M. (2002) Predictors of caregiver burden following traumatic brain injury. *Brain Injury*, 16, 1039–1050.
- Smith, J. E. and Smith, D. L. (2000) Family caregivers' perspectives on their journeys through the system. *Care Management Journal*, 2, 27–33.
- Heller, T., Ying, G., Rimmer, J.H., et al. (2002) Determinants of exercise in adults with cerebral palsy. Public Health Nursing, 19(3), 223–231.

2 What Happens to the Upper Limb After Brain Injury?

Chapter objectives

- Provide an overview of the neural and non-neural components of the motor system that contribute to upper limb movement.
- Describe the underlying causes of the upper motor neuron syndrome.
- Discuss the changes that occur in the upper limb due to the upper motor neuron syndrome.
- Consolidate learning about the influences of the upper motor neuron syndrome on the upper limb through clinical examples.

Arm Spacticity Datterns

Abbreviations

ACD

ASP	Arm Spasticity Patterns
BoNT-A	Botulinum neurotoxin-A
CMC	Carpometacarpal (joint)
CNS	Central Nervous System
DIP	Distal interphalangeal (joint)
EMG	Electromyography, electromyographic
FCU	Flexor Carpi Ulnaris
GMFCS	Gross Motor Functional Classification
	System
GT	Gschwind and Tonkin forearm
	classification
HGF	House, Gwathmey and Fidler thumb
	classification
HIPM	Hypertonicity Intervention Planning
	Model
IP	Interphalangeal (joint)
MC	Metacarpal (bone)
MCP	Metacarpophalangeal (joint)
PIP	Proximal interphalangeal (joint)
UMN(s)	Upper motor neuron(s)
UMNS	Upper motor neuron syndrome
Z&Z	Zancolli and Zancolli hand classificatio

2.1 Motor control and normal movement

Motor control involves the process of planning, initiating, organising and completing movements

that are appropriate for each activity and task environment. The capacity to adapt movement to suit a variety of situations requires cooperation between different systems within the person, such as the sensory/perceptual, cognitive and neuromuscular systems. It also requires information processing across different levels of the central nervous system (CNS). For example, sometimes movement is fast, automatic and involuntary, involving only neuromuscular systems, such as when one withdraws the hand quickly after touching a hot surface. This automatic reflex movement involves neural connections between sensory input and motor output at a spinal cord level only (although the connections may involve interneurons and one or more spinal circuit segments). At other times, such as when learning a new skill, movement will be deliberate and more consciously controlled as cognitive/memory systems interact with sensory/perceptual and neuromuscular systems to make fine adjustments to motor output. This type of movement involves information processing across different systems, and between the cortical levels of the CNS involved in planning and programming movement, and the spinal levels involved in executing the movement [1,2,3].

For normal upper limb movement to occur, all components of the motor system (neural, muscular and skeletal) need to be intact and able to respond effectively to motor commands and activity requirements. The focus of this text is the upper limb and, in particular, promoting arm and hand function after brain injury. Therefore, this chapter provides a relatively brief overview of only those components of the motor system most involved in effecting the 'mechanics' of upper limb movement (such as the descending tracts, the spinal cord and its circuits, muscles and connective tissues). The 'cognitive' aspects of motor control (such as motor learning or movement initiation) are not detailed, nor are the

Neurorehabilitation of the Upper Limb Across the Lifespan: Managing Hypertonicity for Optimal Function, First Edition. Jodie Copley and Kathy Kuipers.

© 2014 John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. Published 2014 by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.